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Architectural Description

The Mount Royal Reservoir Pipe Vault is located within the Baltimore Department of Transportation facility at 560 West North
Avenue, near the north end of the property. The property is adjacent to the Jones Falls Expressway, and is close to the Reservoir
Hill neighborhood of Baltimore City. The pipe vault building is on a north-south orientation and is located within an oval-shaped
area of land. The building is built into the side of a hill, mostly surrounded by wooded areas of the property, except to the south
where the core of the Baltimore Department of Transportation maintenance facility is located.

The pipe vault building is a masonry structure built into the side of an embankment. This embankment is an existing landscape
feature of the former Mount Royal Reservoir. The Mount Royal Reservoir, built from 1857 to 1861, was an elevated, circular
reservoir with a decorative fountain in the center, iron fence around the perimeter, and park-like landscaping around the sides of its
embankment. The pipe vault building, the only existing reservoir building, originally contained machinery that would control the
flow of water from the reservoir. The building is partially-subterranean, with a single portal doorway forming the whole of the
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structure’s fagade. The fagade faces east and is comprised of the vault entrance and rusticated masonry walls. The fagade is heavily
covered with vegetation, making it difficult to view the fagade in its entirety. The building is construed of rusticated stone blocks,
possibly of sandstone or limestone. The rounded arch entrance is accented with stone voussoirs and what appears to be an original
iron door. The entrance projects slightly from the rest of the building. Above the entrance is a simple, classical stone entablature
carved with the words “MT. ROYAL RESERVOIR.”

Inside the entry door, an arched brick portal leads to a subterranean, masonry barrel-vaulted room. The interior consists of one
oval-shaped open space. Towards the north end of the vault are two pieces of iron machinery, which may be original. This
equipment appears to have been a part of the vault’s stopcock system that would turn the flow of water on and off. In addition,
there is a portion of half-height brick wall which runs behind the machinery. Aside from this half wall, there are no other walls or
openings in the vault’s interior.

The south elevation is built into the embankment, but parts of this elevation have been exposed and the overall form of the barrel
vault is visible. Notably, the exterior has been covered in asphalt and gravel, but parts of this have eroded away to expose the
original brick walls of the pipe vault. The north and west elevations are fully built into the embankment, and therefore are not
visible. The remainder of the Mount Royal Reservoir, including the reservoir, containment walls, pump house, gate keeper’s house,
and surrounding parkland have been demolished and replaced by the Baltimore Department of Transportation maintenance facility
and the Jones Falls Expressway.

Historic Context

The former Mount Royal Reservoir was located northwest of the intersection of North Boundary Road (North Avenue) and the
Northern Central Railroad Station on property purchased from the Mount Royal Mill Company. Today, the location is adjacent to
the Jones Falls Expressway. The Mount Royal Reservoir was one of three reservoirs - along with the Hampden Lake and Lake
Roland Reservoirs — which were constructed by the Water Department of Baltimore in the mid-nineteenth century to improve the
water supply system of Baltimore City. Construction of all three reservoirs were concurrent and part of a $1.3 million system of

. dams, conduits and reservoirs designed to provide a “copious supply of wholesome water” to the city (Spence, 1926). Construction
of the Mount Royal Reservoir began on December 19th, 1859 and provided water to the western part of the city as early as 1861 -
a year before the entire system was completed (Scharf, 1881).

When first settled, residential buildings in the city relied upon springs and wells to meet their basic water needs. Yet, as the city
grew, springs and wells tended to become contaminated or run dry, which required the need to search for alternatives. In the early
nineteenth century, the Baltimore Water Company (BWC), a private company, was formed to provide water to the city. Both Jones
Falls and Gwynns Falls provided the closest and easiest solution. However, an early attempt to access Gwynns Falls was prevented
by a court injunction obtained by property owners that prevented pipes to be placed on their property. From this time until 1882,
Jones Falls served as the primary source for water in the city (Spence, 1926). The BWC began providing water to Baltimore in
1807, purchasing mill properties and water rights along Jones Falls and diverting the water into reservoirs within the city.

After several attempts which first began in 1835, the City of Baltimore was finally able to purchase the BWC in 1854 for $1.32
million (Spence, 1926). Immediately, the city sought to improve and expand the supply of available water to meet the growing
needs of the city. Using the results and recommendations of engineering surveys, the Water Department Board of Commissioners
began to secure the land and water rights necessary for construction of a new water system (Spence, 1926). Two alternatives were
considered: expanding the amount of water drawn from Jones Falls by creating more reservoirs further upstream, or introducing
water from Gunpowder Falls. The estimated costs for the former was $1.3 million, and the latter approximately $2.5 million
(McGrain, 1979). The city passed an ordinance to begin construction on the least expensive option: expansion of the water system
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drawn from Jones Falls. The new system would consist of three reservoirs, connected by conduits using a gravity system to supply
the city. The largest of the three new reservoirs to be built was the Swann Lake Reservoir (Lake Roland), near the headwaters of
Jones Falls. When completed, the reservoir had a capacity of 500 million gallons and was connected via a newly-constructed
conduit system to two new smaller reservoirs in Hampden and Mount Royal. The Lake Hampden Reservoir (Roosevelt Park) had a
40 million gallon capacity, and was connected to the 30 million gallon Mount Royal Reservoir. When completed in 1863, the three
reservoirs provided service to 19,640 of the 38,881 buildings in the city (Scharf, 1881), and the 30 million gallon capacity of the
Mount Royal Reservoir was 20 percent greater than the combined capacity of the old Mount Royal and Chase Reservoirs it was
designed to replace (Ordinances of the Mayor and City Council of Baltimore, 1862).

Plans for the Mount Royal Reservoir involved a partial subterranean excavation, yet most of the 550 foot circular design was
above grade. The containment walls were 50 feet thick and 40 feet high, with a ten foot wide walking promenade. The graduation
and masonry of the reservoir was completed by the firm Burke and Green. The grounds around the reservoir contained a gate-
keeper’s house and a pump house, constructed by Binyon and Andoun. Charles Manning served as the chief engineer and Robert
K. Martin was the resident engineer (Scharf, 1881). Martin would later design and oversee the construction of the world’s largest
earthen dam in America (at that time) when Druid Park was selected as the site for another reservoir in 1863 (Dennis, 2015).

The pipe vault building, which contained the stopcocks, would control the flow of water coming into and out of the reservoir. This
facility is the only extant building from the Mount Royal reservoir. A large, central fountain (similar to the fountain in Druid Lake
today) served as an intake from the Hampden conduit and provided an idyllic, park-like setting with views of the city and bay to
the south and the country to the north and west. Construction on the Mount Royal reservoir was completed in 1861. The
completion of conduits linking the Lake Hampden and Lake Roland Reservoirs in 1862 made the entire water system fully
operational, although water from the Mount Royal Reservoir was reportedly being used as early as 1861 (Dennis, 2012).

Although the pipe vault building is not located within a historic district, the adjacent Reservoir Hill Historic District (B-1379) is
listed on the National Register of Historic Places. The construction of the Mount Royal Reservoir heavily influenced the
development of this neighborhood, which consists of rowhouses, mansions, and apartment buildings dating from the 1870s to the
1940s. Prior to 1870, the area surrounding the Mount Royal Reservoir consisted of rural farms and estates. The completion of
Druid Hill Park in 1860 and the Mount Royal Reservoir in 1861 attracted visitors looking for a scenic recreational spot. The
Mount Royal Reservoir, though, was located just outside of the Baltimore City boundary — North Avenue served as the city limit
until 1889 (Shoken, Section 8, 1). By the 1870s, streetcar lines had extended to Druid Hill Park, making the area more accessible
and enabling the first batch of rowhouses in the area. By 1900, the City had purchased land to the west of the Reservoir and
created the Mount Royal Terrace drive, which directly fronted the Reservoir. Queen Anne style homes along the Mount Royal
Terrace were highly desirable for their unique, terraced landscaping and views overlooking the Reservoir.

Unfortunately, once completed the new system of reservoirs and conduits soon proved to be inadequate to meet the growth and
demands of the city, and new reservoirs were being planned as early as 1863 (Dennis, 2012). In 1910 the Mount Royal Reservoir
was transferred from the City Water Department to the Parks Department, and was no longer used to provide water. In 1924, the
City Park Board began dismantling the empty reservoir, removing 50,000 cubic feet of earthen berm fill to create a park. By
dismantling the reservoir, the Park Department hoped to end some of the contention with local residences as to what should be
done with the abandoned reservoir. Local residents were not fond of the empty bowl, and some wanted it filled again. Proposed
development for the lot included a swimming pool, or building an athletic stadium or art museum - none of which fared well with
many local residents (“Razing is Begun of Mount Royal Ave. Reservoir”). The Parks Department eventually developed the lot into
a public park until construction of the Jones Falls Expressway in the 1960s bisected the former reservoir.
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Significance Evaluation

The Mount Royal Reservoir Pipe Vault was evaluated for significance under the National Register of Historic Places Criteria A, B,
and C, using the guidelines set forth in the National Register Bulletin “How to Apply the National Register Criteria for
Evaluation.” The property was not evaluated for eligibility under Criterion D as part of this assessment. Other Determinations of
Eligibility and National Register of Historic Places Registration Forms for reservoirs were consulted to inform this assessment.
The Jerome Park Reservoir, located in the Bronx, New York, is listed on the National Register of Historic Places and has a pipe
vault building that is very similar to the Mount Royal Reservoir Pipe Vault. The Washington Aqueduct is listed as a National
Historic Landmark, and also includes a pipe vault building. This building, though, differs from the Mount Royal Reservoir because
the entrance to the vault is located in a hexagonal, above-ground building. Both the Jerome Park Reservoir and the Washington
Aqueduct are listed as significant under Criteria A and C for their respective contributions to city water systems, as well as for their
architectural significance. In addition, these resources both include their original reservoirs and most of their original accessory
structures. In Baltimore City, the Clifton Park Valve House is listed on the National Register of Historic Places (B-63). Although
the Clifton Park Reservoir no longer exists, the unique Gothic-style design of the building makes it significant under Criterion C.

This assessment considered the significance and integrity of the Mount Royal Reservoir Pipe Vault both as part of the larger,
original Mount Royal Reservoir complex and as a stand-alone structure. The Mount Royal Reservoir, as a whole, was a significant
site within the areas of community planning and development, engineering, and social history as part of Baltimore City’s first
major public water supply system and as a catalyst for the creation of new urban parks and residential areas such as the Reservoir
Hill Historic District (Criterion A). Unlike other notable Baltimore City reservoirs, such as Druid Hill Park, the entire Mount
Royal Reservoir has been drained, filled, and demolished except for the pipe vault building. The construction of the Jones Falls
Expressway through the property intersected the circular shape of the former reservoir site, which further diminished the integrity -
especially the setting, feeling, and association — of the overall property. Without any other remaining buildings or landscape
features pertaining to the Mount Royal Reservoir, the pipe vault alone holds little significance under Criterion A within the larger
context of Baltimore City’s water system or neighboring residential areas such as the Reservoir Hill Historic District. Therefore,
the Mount Royal Reservoir Pipe Building is not eligible under Criterion A.

Research has not shown that the property is associated with the lives of individuals significant in the past. Therefore, the property
is not eligible under Criterion B.

As a stand-alone structure, the pipe vault building itself is a rare surviving type that retains a degree of historical integrity. Aside
from the covering of the south elevation in asphalt, much of the fagade and interior have not been altered. The exterior iron door,
engraved entablature, and machinery inside have all remained intact, helping to contribute to its integrity of location, design,
materials, and workmanship. However, the surrounding setting and modern intrusions have all but destroyed the resource’s
integrity of location, setting, feeling, and association. As a whole, the structure is not a particularly unusual building type or a work
of a master. Unlike the surviving Clifton Park Valve House, which exemplifies the gothic style, the Mount Royal Reservoir Pipe
Vault is neither remarkable nor of high artistic value as a work of architecture or engineering under Criterion C. The structure no
longer conveys the feeling of a mid-nineteenth century public water supply system or its associations with the development of the
city. Because the resource lacks sufficient significance and integrity to meet the NRHP criteria of eligibility, the Mount Royal
Reservoir Pipe Vault is recommended not eligible for listing in the NRHP.
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